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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Finance

          3  Committee is back in session and now joint with the

          4  Committee on Land Use, Chaired by Melinda Katz, as

          5  well as the Committee on Information, Technology and

          6  Telecommunications, chaired by Council Member Gale

          7  Brewer. We look forward to the testimony of

          8  Commissioner Paul Cosgrave.

          9                 Chair Katz, did you have a statement?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: No. I guess, yes.

         11  We want to welcome the Commissioner and his staff,

         12  of course, to also have been actually quite

         13  responsive in answering questions and working with

         14  us. So, I just wanted to give them a thank you, and

         15  I look forward to hearing the developments,

         16  especially on some of the larger projects that the

         17  Council does fund. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And I believe

         19  Chair Brewer has a statement.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want to

         21  second the appreciation of the Commissioner and his

         22  staff. Obviously there are some large projects from

         23  the capital and the future of our security and

         24  obviously communication with the residents, also

         25  part of the expense and capital issues that we'll
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          2  discuss today and the ongoing franchise concern. So,

          3  we look forward to the Commissioner, and his

          4  testimony, and thank him for communication during

          5  the time between the preliminary and now and ongoing

          6  during the year.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Commissioner.

          9                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Good

         10  afternoon, Chairs Brewer, Katz and Weprin, and

         11  members of the City Council Committees on Technology

         12  in Government, Land Use and Finance.

         13                 My name is Paul Cosgrave, the

         14  Commissioner of the Department of Information

         15  Technology and Telecommunications. I also serve as

         16  the New York City Chief Information Officer.

         17                 With me today are Ron Bergmann,

         18  DoITT's First Deputy Commissioner; Mitchell Ahlbaum,

         19  Deputy Commissioner for Franchise Administration and

         20  General Counsel; and John Winker, our Associate

         21  Commissioner for Financial Services.

         22                 I'm testifying before you today

         23  regarding DoITT's Fiscal 2008 Executive Budget,

         24  after which I will be pleased to answer any

         25  questions that you may have.
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          2                 Our 2008 budget provides for $346

          3  million to achieve DoITT's mission of coordinating

          4  Citywide IT policy and planning, designing, building

          5  and maintaining information systems that support

          6  City operations, providing public access to City

          7  information and services, and serving in a

          8  regulatory capacity for City administered

          9  franchises.

         10                 The budget increase over 2007 is

         11  primarily attributable to additional funds to

         12  further our ability to provide centralized IT

         13  support, as well as additional resources to support

         14  the 3-1-1 customer service center and the enhanced

         15  3-1-1 Initiative.

         16                 I've testified previously about

         17  development of our Citywide IT strategy, targeted

         18  for completion this summer, which will provide a

         19  roadmap for the IT Initiative to be pursued over the

         20  balance of the Administration.

         21                 In developing this strategy, we

         22  conducted interviews with a broad cross-section of

         23  City executives and the technology leaders, a

         24  process which included key insights from Council

         25  Member Brewer, and over 140 participants
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          2  representing 39 City agencies that have all been

          3  involved in developing this roadmap.

          4                 These IT initiatives will support the

          5  Mayor's goal of approved transparency,

          6  accountability and accessibility for all of the

          7  City's customers, namely its residents, businesses,

          8  visitors and employees.

          9                 Each initiative will be divided into

         10  a series of individual projects, representing

         11  tangible deliverables enabling us to measure success

         12  against our goals. Indeed, we stand uniquely

         13  positioned in City history to make substantial

         14  transformative changes, positively impact New

         15  Yorkers and the agencies that serve them for years

         16  to come. It's on these large projects, and this

         17  enterprise approach to IT management and policy,

         18  that I will focus my remarks today.

         19                 The transformation that we're talking

         20  about here of course begins with 3-1-1. The 3-1-1

         21  customer service center celebrated its fourth

         22  anniversary in March, and will receive it's 50

         23  millionth call this summer.

         24                 Of the many reasons for its success,

         25  the most important is this: We have never gauged
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          2  3-1-1 by the many services it offers, but instead by

          3  those that we believe we can offer in the future.

          4                 Accordingly, 3-1-1 is not easing

          5  towards this milestone but charging past it,

          6  committed to servicing the next 50 million callers

          7  and beyond with an even fuller complement of

          8  offerings, and with a greater focus on the customer

          9  experience.

         10                 Since its inception, 3-1-1 has been

         11  the only number New Yorkers need for access to

         12  non-emergency City services, government information

         13  and services.

         14                 We replaced hundreds of numbers and a

         15  dozen pages in the phone book, and therefore,

         16  customers no longer need to know, or try to

         17  determine which agency is responsible for helping

         18  them with their problems, only that they have an

         19  issue that needs to be addressed.

         20                 We are continuing to deliver upon

         21  that idea today, while also exploring such

         22  improvements as 3-1-1 on the web, the ability of the

         23  public to send images to the call center, and

         24  personalize the count servicing.

         25                 With the City's community boards, we
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          2  are working to improve their view into the types of

          3  calls 3-1-1 receives, and to develop a pilot which

          4  will enable them to view the status of service

          5  requests in real time.

          6                 Notwithstanding the improvements we

          7  have planned, we also continue to enhance the ways

          8  in which we report 3-1-1 information today.

          9                 Pursuant to Local Law 47 of 2005,

         10  DoITT posts on NYC.gov monthly reports about 3-1-1

         11  call data for the City Council Speaker, Public

         12  Advocate, community boards and also for the public.

         13                 I also conduct quarterly meetings

         14  with the boards to review the reports' content and

         15  format. Based upon their feedback we have broken out

         16  the reports for each community board, making them

         17  easier to navigate, and upgraded their layout to

         18  provide a sharper, cleaner look and feel. At our

         19  meeting with Council Member Brewer and the boards

         20  next week, we look forward to continuing this

         21  successful dialogue.

         22                 The largest single project underway

         23  at 3-1-1 is the Enhanced 3-1-1 Initiative or

         24  E-3-1-1. E-3-1-1 will take the customer experience

         25  one step further by providing health and human
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          2  services information and referral, I&R, to programs

          3  for which callers may be unaware. Drawing from a

          4  comprehensive database of services offered by

          5  government agencies, specialized information and

          6  referral agencies, and community-based service

          7  provider organizations, New Yorkers will soon have

          8  access to a broader array of health and human

          9  service information.

         10                 Furthermore, should customers require

         11  referrals, they can speak with call takers trained

         12  to assess their human service needs. These I&R

         13  specialists will provide holistic assistance, and

         14  have the ability to transfer callers to specialized

         15  organizations operating thousands of programs

         16  Citywide.

         17                 The measures underway at 3-1-1 are

         18  among many technology projects designed to increase

         19  the accessibility to City services, and these

         20  improvements are not limited to any single medium.

         21                 The City's official website, NYC.gov

         22  continues to do for the web what 3-1-1 has done for

         23  telecommunications, allow greater numbers of people

         24  to contact New York City anytime about anything from

         25  anywhere.
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          2                 Indeed, as the average number of

          3  calls to 3-1-1 is about 40,000 daily, public usage

          4  of NYC.gov continues to eclipse all previous marks,

          5  a trend which will continue as the number of people

          6  interacting with the City on-line increases.

          7                 Over the past four months, users have

          8  viewed nearly 152 million pages of NYC.gov content,

          9  11 million more than they did the same period last

         10  year.

         11                 Moreover, as many 3-1-1 services

         12  become mirrored on the web, and as we work with

         13  other agencies to develop enterprise technology

         14  projects aimed at making government more

         15  customer-oriented, NYC.gov will become an even more

         16  integral part of the process. Accordingly, we are

         17  making a commitment to the City's future by

         18  dedicating the new resources necessary to achieve a

         19  number of transformative IT projects.

         20                 The first of these relates to health

         21  and human services. While 3-1-1 Customer Service

         22  Center and NYC.gov have made government more

         23  accessible by phone and via the web, projects like

         24  E-3-1-1 and ACCESS NYC are furthering that goal

         25  today.
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          2                 As you know, Mayor Bloomberg

          3  announced ACCESS NYC last September as an online

          4  resource to provide New Yorkers with greater access

          5  to City, State and Federal benefit programs. Late

          6  last month, with the leadership of Deputy Mayor

          7  Gibbs, we launched the third release of ACCESS NYC,

          8  providing access to seven additional programs.

          9  Today, ACCESS NYC provides residents with a single

         10  point of entry for human service benefit programs,

         11  allowing them to anonymously pre-screen for 28

         12  programs in total - and this is available to them in

         13  seven different languages. The next release of

         14  ACCESS NYC, scheduled for early fall 2007, will

         15  focus on providing access to workforce development

         16  offerings.

         17                 ACCESS NYC is an easily-navigable

         18  user-friendly website bringing together for the

         19  first time, in one place, many of the benefit

         20  programs for which a customer might be eligible. Its

         21  parallel for businesses is an initiative called

         22  Business Express.

         23                 Under the direction of Deputy Mayor

         24  Doctoroff, and in conjunction with the Department of

         25  Small Business Services, we have recently launched
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          2  the first phase of this project, intended to serve

          3  as "one-stop shopping" for small businesses when

          4  they interact with government.

          5                 Today, Business Express provides

          6  business owners the opportunity to enter the

          7  parameters for restaurants they are trying to open

          8  or expand, allows them to navigate for permits and

          9  licenses, aiming to create an enhanced portal for

         10  businesses on NYC.gov, through which owners may

         11  manage their transactions with the City, and

         12  expedite the processing and payment for City and

         13  State permits, all from one single location.

         14                 While I have so far spoken to

         15  initiatives directly facing the public, be they the

         16  City's residents, visitors and businesses, I would

         17  like to now describe a number of projects underway

         18  that do so indirectly, by benefitting the agencies

         19  and employees that serve them.

         20                 DoITT is first and foremost a service

         21  agency, and beyond 3-1-1 and NYC.gov is our role in

         22  building and maintaining information systems that

         23  support City operations. In two particular

         24  instances, centralization of these systems has led

         25  not only to cost savings, but has benefitted City
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          2  agencies overall.

          3                 The Enterprise Service Desk now being

          4  deployed, for instance, will provide 24 by 7 by 365,

          5  end-to-end service support for agencies on the

          6  City's network, acting as a single point of contact

          7  for network, mainframe and enterprise application

          8  issues. Systems recently deployed now enable us to

          9  proactively manage IT resources, automate problem

         10  tracking and monitor, maintain and enforce

         11  best-practice change control across the entire City

         12  set of applications.

         13                 The DoITT Data Center is a highly

         14  secure, fully redundant environment consisting of

         15  mainframe, midrange and Wintel platforms. City

         16  agencies are encouraged to host and back-up their

         17  applications at our Data Center as an alternative to

         18  maintaining their own data centers or outsourcing

         19  these activities. By consolidating the City's

         20  technical infrastructure in this manner, we are able

         21  to achieve significant cost savings and more

         22  efficient management and support.

         23                 Once known simply as the agency that

         24  maintained the City's IT and telecommunications

         25  assets, DoITT moved to the next level when Mayor
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          2  Bloomberg began transforming municipal government

          3  with major, public-facing technology initiatives.

          4  Consistent with our charter mandate, DoITT is also

          5  responsible for coordinating IT policy and planning

          6  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Paul, hold on a

          8  second. We want to thank the kids for coming and

          9  they have to leave.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm sorry.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Sorry,

         14  Commissioner. Go ahead.

         15                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: No problem.

         16                 Consistent with our Charter mandate,

         17  DoITT is also responsible for coordinating IT policy

         18  and planning to play a substantial role as we

         19  implement our Citywide IT strategy. Implicit in this

         20  is fostering a framework for IT governance, support

         21  services and enterprise architecture, through which

         22  agencies have a framework to pursue their own

         23  technology projects to better serve New Yorkers.

         24                 Indeed, by approaching the City's IT

         25  projects as a portfolio of initiatives within a
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          2  larger, integrated enterprise, we hope to reduce

          3  redundancy, leverage best practices, and establish

          4  common technical solutions Citywide.

          5                 The City's new integration platform

          6  that's known as DataShare is a prime example of a

          7  cross-agency initiative. Implemented in conjunction

          8  with the Mayor's Criminal Justice Coordinator,

          9  DataShare links 17 agencies and enhances support for

         10  criminal justice investigations, trial preparation

         11  and case follow-up to improve public safety

         12  outcomes. The platform allows Police Department

         13  arrest data to populate case management systems for

         14  the District Attorney Offices and the Department of

         15  Probation. While continuing to be expanded for

         16  criminal justice, the DataShare platform may also be

         17  leveraged to meet the integration needs of other

         18  Citywide initiatives.

         19                 Another consideration in coordinating

         20  the City's technology policy and planning is that of

         21  IT security, about which I recently testified before

         22  the Council. While DoITT has always played a role in

         23  this respect, centralizing Citywide functions, for

         24  instance, such as the aforementioned Enterprise

         25  Service Desk and the Data Center, as well as the
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          2  consolidated e-mail, firewall solutions and disaster

          3  recovery sites we provide, our role has now grown.

          4                 Today we bear primary responsibility

          5  for reviewing Citywide security procedures and

          6  standards, and developing new ones as appropriate to

          7  ensure the confidentiality and the integrity of

          8  electronic information processed by the City of New

          9  York.

         10                 Among City agencies, a group of

         11  customers with whom we are working towards major

         12  working technology initiatives is the public safety

         13  community - the City's first responders, in

         14  particular.

         15                 The Emergency Communications

         16  Transformation Program, or ECTP as it's better

         17  known, is a multi-year, multi-agency effort to

         18  modernize all aspects of the City's Emergency 911,

         19  E911 System. DoITT's role in ECTP has been primarily

         20  to manage deployment of these technologies, and as

         21  such, the majority of capital funding for this

         22  initiative is contained within our budget. Among

         23  ECTP's successes to date is the installation of AVL,

         24  or automatic vehicle location technology, in 1,100

         25  emergency vehicles last year - the result of a
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          2  successful AVL pilot in which average EMS response

          3  time to medical emergencies has already been reduced

          4  by 33 seconds.

          5                 Among the many projects under the

          6  ECTP umbrella is development of a unified

          7  call-taking system, an upgraded telecommunications

          8  infrastructure, and back-up call taking and dispatch

          9  centers.

         10                 In Fiscal 2008, the first phase of

         11  the integrated Police and Fire Department Public

         12  Safety Answering Center, PSAC 1, as it's known,

         13  which will serve as the primary call-taking

         14  environment for all of the City's emergency first

         15  responders, will be completed.

         16                 As a result, NYPD and FDNY staff who

         17  handle emergency calls from the public - people who

         18  perform an incredibly important function - will, for

         19  the first time, be seated side-by-side under the

         20  same roof, greatly improving emergency communication

         21  and coordination.

         22                 As you know, the City is also

         23  planning a second Public Safety Answering Center, or

         24  a PSAC 2, to serve as a fully redundant,

         25  load-balanced back-up facility. Notably, the
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          2  Department of Design and Construction released an

          3  RFP for PSAC 2 design last month, and as reported

          4  previously, the City is also aggressively pursuing

          5  acquisition of the land for this facility.

          6                 While ECTP promises to transform the

          7  way emergency calls are handled, the New York City

          8  Wireless Network, or NYCWiN, will greatly enhance

          9  the information our first responders receive as they

         10  respond to and manage critical incidents. A

         11  fully-interoperable, IP-based network, NYCWiN will

         12  provide for broadband transmission of video feeds,

         13  maps, files, wireless call box alarms, traffic

         14  control signals and AVL data, dedicated specifically

         15  to City government use.

         16                 During non-emergency periods, this

         17  network will fulfill the public service needs of

         18  many agencies, including inspectional and various

         19  maintenance activities in the field.

         20                 Now operational throughout lower

         21  Manhattan south of Canal Street, river-to-river,

         22  with the testing of multiple agency applications

         23  underway, NYCWiN is scheduled to be built out

         24  Citywide in Fiscal 2008. Successful applications run

         25  on the network to date include wireless traffic
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          2  control demonstrations with the Department of

          3  Transportation, and video transmission from an

          4  incident scene to remote locations within the Fire

          5  Department.

          6                 While NYCWiN transforms the City's

          7  capabilities with respect to data transmissions, on

          8  the voice side we are in the process of implementing

          9  an integrated public safety radio network, known as

         10  the Channel 16 Radio Project.

         11                 Designed to support FDNY and EMS

         12  dispatch communications, when completed by this time

         13  next year the network will also support the

         14  day-to-day and emergency-related communications of

         15  multiple City agencies, allowing them to replace

         16  their current legacy radio systems. Channel 16 will

         17  have multiple levels of "back-up" redundancy and

         18  will not rely on commercial phone lines or power,

         19  thereby avoiding a vulnerability to outages. To

         20  date, final designs for 27 of the 32 sites have been

         21  completed and construction has begun, with factory

         22  level testing of the network to begin next month.

         23                 To fund these and other Citywide

         24  projects that improve public safety and enhance

         25  first responder interoperability, DoITT has figured
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          2  prominently in supporting the City's efforts to

          3  advocate for its fair share of Department of

          4  Homeland Security funding. As a result of the City's

          5  work with federal lawmakers and officials, we have

          6  recently been successful in lobbying for a change to

          7  the funding structure associated with a federal

          8  grant for interoperable radio communications

          9  infrastructure. We now hope to work with the City

         10  Council in similar efforts at the state level to

         11  acquire the greatest possible portion of these

         12  funds.

         13                 DoITT continues its work to promote

         14  New York City in other arenas as well. Successful

         15  leverage of our media operations, including NYC.gov

         16  and NYC TV, is perhaps the best example of this. To

         17  date, in 2007, NYC TV Channel 74 has covered more

         18  than 220 City Council meetings, hearings, forums and

         19  press conferences. Now airing approximately 68 hours

         20  of Council hearings each week, all of which is also

         21  available via streaming video on NYC.gov, we are now

         22  exploring ways to provide enhanced web broadcasting

         23  coverage, as well.

         24                 Through the successful execution of

         25  the projects I have outlined today, and many others
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          2  currently underway, DoITT will once again deliver

          3  upon its mandate, to oversee the use of new and

          4  emerging technologies in government operations, and

          5  its delivery of services to the public, in the

          6  coming fiscal year.

          7                 Thank you again for the opportunity

          8  to appear before you. We would now gladly accept any

          9  of your questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         11  Commissioner. In your acknowledgment of your staff,

         12  you omitted our home-grown City Council favorite,

         13  and that's Jay Damashek, your Chief of Staff. And

         14  it's a pleasure to have him back in this Chamber,

         15  and we enjoyed his Counsel and his advice and he

         16  kept us out of trouble for a number of years. So,

         17  it's nice to see him back here in these Chambers.

         18                 You referred, I'll go back to the

         19  last part of your testimony, you referred to Channel

         20  74 and covering 220 City Council meetings. I can't

         21  tell you how many insomniacs I run into on a regular

         22  basis that always tell me, oh, I saw you at 2:00 in

         23  the morning, you know, conducting a budget hearing,

         24  and we do these ongoing budget hearings, and it's

         25  one of the things that actually keeps me awake.
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          2  Because somebody will say, oh, you did that or that.

          3  But it's really improved significantly.

          4                 Is there enough funding in the

          5  budget, by the way, for either expanded program with

          6  Channel 74? I know there was an effort in the last

          7  couple of years to kind of tie the timing of the

          8  shows to the actual hearing and other events that

          9  take place, because for awhile, a number of years

         10  ago they were like months behind, as far as some of

         11  the hearings, and somebody would see a hearing that

         12  took place months ago, and there was obviously a gap

         13  in time which was significant.

         14                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: There is

         15  definitely sufficient funding to continue that level

         16  of support. In addition, we've added seven new

         17  resources, we're requested seven new resources to

         18  that organization that are primarily in the area of

         19  fundraising to try to get more grant-type funding

         20  for additional services through the NYCTV.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Very good. We've

         22  been joined by some colleagues. We've been joined by

         23  our Majority Whip, Council Member Inez Dickens from

         24  Manhattan, and our Assistant Majority Leader,

         25  Councilman Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

                                                            24

          1  FINANCE, TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND LAND USE

          2                 In your testimony you talked about

          3  the 3-1-1, the enhanced 3-1-1, and you know, we're

          4  very excited about the expansion of that program

          5  that has worked very well.

          6                 Can you kind of give us an idea where

          7  3-1-1, the enhanced 3-1-1 will be located, vis-a-vis

          8  3-1-1? And is there a capital plan specifically to

          9  deal with the enhanced 3-1-1 versus the regular

         10  3-1-1?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: In terms of

         12  the first part of that question, which is the

         13  location, we believe and have lobbied the State,

         14  that by leveraging E-3-1-1 or 2-1-1, as it's

         15  referred to in many other locations, with a 3-1-1

         16  facility we in effect can provide that service on a

         17  much more effective basis. So, essentially it is

         18  just an extension to the current 3-1-1 workforce and

         19  will be collocated.

         20                 In terms of the capital budget, and

         21  I'm going to let our Associate Commissioner for

         22  Finance handle that question.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Yes,

         24  I'm John Winker. I'm Associate Commissioner of

         25  Financial Services at DoITT. As far as the E-3-1-1
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          2  capital allocation, so far there is $1.3 million

          3  allocated in Fiscal Year '07, to really do

          4  requirements definition type of work. In FY '08,

          5  there is not a specific CP in place right now. There

          6  is a place holder in the capital plan that covers

          7  both 3-1-1 and 3-1-1 spending, potential spending,

          8  and that's $66 million.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sixty-six

         10  million? How is the 66 million going to be spent?

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Right

         12  now that is a place holder. It is not broken down to

         13  any level in detail on how that is going to be

         14  spent.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Can you give us a

         16  general idea? That's a substantial amount of money.

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER:

         18  Correct. We'd have to get back to you in terms of

         19  how that's going to break down, but in terms of

         20  right now, we're talking about development of the

         21  application, et cetera, et cetera.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is the intention

         23  to have the new enhanced 3-1-1 at a separate

         24  location? You mentioned it's collocated now?

         25                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: No,
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          2  it's collocated. Yes, they'll be collocated. The

          3  capital money is primarily for developing the

          4  systems necessary to support enhanced services.

          5                 We're going through the process right

          6  now, the IT strategic planning process, where we're

          7  getting the requirements from the across the entire

          8  City of enhanced-type customer services that could

          9  be offered or should be offered as extensions to

         10  what currently exists in 3-1-1.

         11                 So, some of that money will be

         12  focused on the E-3-1-1 in one initiative, which is

         13  about coordinating with the Health and Human

         14  Services type of agencies, both City agencies, as

         15  well as external agencies. That's what the enhanced

         16  3-1-1 or the 2-1-1 programs are all about.

         17                 Other parts of that money will be

         18  focused more on better integration and reporting of

         19  the way we're handling service orders in the current

         20  types of systems that we'll dealing with throughout

         21  the various agencies.

         22                 So, the exact spending plan of how

         23  that money will be allocated is going to come about

         24  as a result of the IT strategic plan that is in

         25  development right now and will be completed and
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          2  approved with the Mayor's Office in early July.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But the full 66

          4  million will be in the '08 capital budget?

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Yes,

          6  right now it's in the capital plan. It's actually in

          7  the plan from '08 to '12. So, it's actually over the

          8  next four years. So, that's really just like I said,

          9  it's a lump sum place holder, as we complete the

         10  requirements definition work that's ongoing now,

         11  we'll determine how much that's going to be spent in

         12  '08 and the outyears.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Could you provide

         14  us with a breakdown as you know it? Because that is

         15  a fairly large capital expenditure, we'd like to

         16  know how you anticipate spending that between '08

         17  and '12.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER:

         19  Absolutely. But we'll provide you a separate

         20  document. We'll give you our best understanding of

         21  that right now. But recognize it needs to be

         22  approved through City Hall and that probably will

         23  not happen towards the end of June, early July.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, we

         25  understand. But we'd like at least, just, you know,
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          2  our own planning stages, because obviously we have a

          3  lot of capital needs in the City, and that would be

          4  considered a fairly large capital allocation. And

          5  we'd really like to know that before we adopt the

          6  budget the end of June, or middle of June. It might

          7  be a little earlier this year.

          8                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Okay.

          9  We'll do that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to turn

         11  the mic over to my co-chair Melinda Katz, to be

         12  followed by Chair Brewer.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you,

         14  Commissioner, for your testimony today. We've had

         15  several discussions, not only with you, but also

         16  your staff about the different items at DoITT. I

         17  guess the obvious question that I ask every time

         18  we're here is about PSAC 2, status on that, what's

         19  going on with the siting, capital money. Anybody

         20  want to take a shot at that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: I'll start.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Go ahead,

         23  Commissioner. You can do it.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: The program

         25  has moved a little bit. It's very slow moving, I'll
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          2  be the first to admit.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: I hadn't noticed.

          4                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: But design and

          5  development, DDC is involved now, and they have

          6  issued an RFP for a design company, that RFP was

          7  released last month. It's my understanding they're

          8  expecting to get the proposals and to make a

          9  selection within the next month or so. So, that's

         10  for the actual design of the building, so there has

         11  been some progress.

         12                 The acquisition of the actual land

         13  site has been very difficult. The negotiations that

         14  were conducted with the owner did not work out to

         15  the City's favor, and the City is now considering

         16  other alternatives which they'll need to obviously

         17  come back to your Committee and discuss as they

         18  proceed.

         19                 So, that's the current status. I

         20  don't know if any new action has occurred in

         21  actually acquiring the property at this point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: How much is in the

         23  budget for PSAC 2. I know I should know that off the

         24  top of my head at this point, but I don't.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: I should, too,
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          2  but I don't.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: I was relying on

          4  you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We'll ask

          6  John.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER:

          8  Through the Fiscal Year 2009, there is $806 million

          9  allocated for PSAC 2. For the design, the site prep

         10  construction.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: And how much was

         12  allocated like for 2006/2007?

         13                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Well,

         14  2007 had like a million dollars.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Which hasn't been

         16  used.

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: 2006

         18  had zero. Nothing has been --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: So not even spent.

         20  So, I guess my real question to you is that when we

         21  find out that this is or is not happening, that we

         22  will hopefully be one of the first to know so that

         23  we can deal with that issue.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Absolutely.

         25  There's clearly Land Use issues here, so absolutely
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          2  you'll be the first to know.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: And budget issues,

          4  I mean, is really what I'm getting at. I mean, we

          5  don't mind allocating the money for something that's

          6  utilized properly and going to be used and is pretty

          7  much a sure thing of being used, but it seems like

          8  it's been a long process. So, whenever.

          9                 Well, the next thing, though, is, and

         10  you've only been here a few months, so we understand

         11  that, and he was temporary before and I think the

         12  priority in the first few years, the Administration

         13  was really 3-1-1 in getting that up and running. So,

         14  understanding all that as we move forward.

         15                 The survey, the customer satisfaction

         16  survey, the $400,000 that's being allocated for the

         17  ongoing customer service fashion survey.

         18                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Can you tell us,

         20  number one, how you're picking the company to do

         21  that? Is it going to be a public bid? Is it sole

         22  source? Is it how you're doing that? Are you

         23  contracting it out? But, two, if you've formulated

         24  any survey information, any criteria for the survey?

         25  And I guess really what it's supposed to solve and
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          2  figure out.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Okay. So, as

          4  part of the overall plan to make the City's services

          5  more customer-service oriented, a key part of that

          6  is to essentially understand how customers currently

          7  are satisfied, how constituents currently are

          8  satisfied. So, we've actually undertaken this in a

          9  couple of different phases.

         10                 We've already conducted, or actually

         11  we're in the process of conducting two surveys, one

         12  around NYC.gov and how NYC.gov is utilized and how

         13  our constituents find that service. And we're also

         14  doing it for 3-1-1.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Who is "we" in that

         16  sentence?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Those were

         18  both being done by the people who were operating

         19  those. So, those are internal surveys --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Internal.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: -- That we're

         22  doing within DoITT. We operate those two functions.

         23  In the case of NYC.gov, it is a simple questionnaire

         24  that pops up at the end of someone's use of the

         25  service to say if they want to fill out the survey
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          2  or not, and 3-1-1 will work in a very similar way.

          3                 The $400,000, though, is a project

          4  that we're doing in concert with the Mayor's Office

          5  of Operations, and it will be essentially a much

          6  more expansive study of customer satisfaction, not

          7  just in terms of how they find 3-1-1 or how they

          8  find NYC.gov, but how they find customer

          9  satisfaction of all City services.

         10                 And the specifics of how that's being

         11  designed and how -- it will definitely be an

         12  external organization doing the survey. I don't know

         13  a lot of the criteria and specifics that are being

         14  done jointly with the Mayor's Office right now, and

         15  we should be able to get back to you with

         16  information specific on that, probably within a

         17  couple of weeks, I would think.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Is this a new item

         19  in the budget since the last time we spoke?

         20                 It is, right? We didn't see it

         21  before.

         22                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Yes, it is.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: I mean, I'm just

         24  throwing out for you, Commissioner, I'd like to have

         25  follow-up discussions with you on this. You can set
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          2  a lot of policy by doing surveys on almost anything

          3  anywhere in the world. You know, the questions can

          4  be given in a certain way, the questions about what

          5  you ask, how you ask it, is it yes and no, is it

          6  multiple choice, are some of the answers that people

          7  might give not on the list? I mean, anything can be

          8  really, and I'm not saying that you're going to be

          9  doing it, but anything can be skewed in any way to

         10  set policy for the City of New York, and I think

         11  that although this was sort of added as a side note,

         12  and I think that it's probably meant to do a good

         13  thing, and I'm not questioning that, I would like to

         14  be intimately involved with how the questions, first

         15  of all, how you're picking the contractor that's

         16  doing it; number two, who are they answering to I

         17  think is very important; and three, really what it's

         18  supposed to resolve.

         19                 I mean, I'll just give you an

         20  example. Are you asking about elected officials in

         21  the survey? I mean, that's a City service. You know,

         22  I'd like to know whether or not there's going to be

         23  a question on there that say, you know, no offense,

         24  but after you call 3-1-1, do you always call your

         25  Council member? You know, things like that. And I'd
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          2  also like to know what's going to happen with the

          3  results. Are we getting copies of it? Is that going

          4  to be public, or is it going to be summarized?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Let me set up

          6  a meeting to come and give you answers to all that,

          7  because I don't have the answers to those questions

          8  right now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: No, I understand.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: And I'll have

         11  a representative from the Mayor's Office of

         12  Operations join me, as well, because to a large

         13  extent they're making decisions on those questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: That would be my

         15  pleasure. And I'm sorry, but who's taking the lead,

         16  the Mayor's Office?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: I'm working

         18  currently with Carol Post on that of the Mayor's

         19  Office.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Okay. I think

         21  that's it. I appreciate your time. Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Chair Brewer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 I know when David Weprin was asking

          3  about 3-1-1, I guess my question is, for the

          4  E-3-1-1, what's the timing for full implementation?

          5  Obviously if it's going to be collocated, I thought

          6  it was originally going to be in another location;

          7  does that mean in another floor? Is there enough

          8  space there? Because I know there's a different kind

          9  of person operating the phone, somebody who has got

         10  social service background.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We have a

         12  request in for 25 additional call-takers. Because of

         13  the 24 by 7 nature of that operation, that does not

         14  add that many additional seats. So, we're able to

         15  pretty much accommodate that from our current

         16  physical structure there. So that collocation is

         17  clearly the way to do that, we just need some

         18  additional staffing.

         19                 The actual plans for E-3-1-1 are

         20  still being developed, in terms of which services

         21  are being rolled out, when, and what time frame.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. The other

         23  question I have is, when we have had the Manhattan

         24  Delegation budget meetings, we did it four or five

         25  days, we have hundreds and hundreds of non-profits,

                                                            37

          1  FINANCE, TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND LAND USE

          2  many of them come with the request overwhelming for

          3  more computer support, and many of them are human

          4  service agencies. And I think you know this, but the

          5  question is, as you roll this out, and obviously it

          6  will be advertised, I want to know how you're going

          7  to advertise it, was another question, if at all?

          8  But the issue is, obviously, any kind of support for

          9  those in the meeting human services to me is

         10  paramount. And I appreciate that this is going

         11  forward.

         12                 But how will those who are the

         13  recipient perhaps of some of these calls, what will

         14  be done to enhance their computer and technology

         15  support? Or is it an unfunded mandate?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: There is going

         17  to be a requirement that people that we're referring

         18  out to are technically capable of handling the calls

         19  that we're referring to them. That will probably

         20  require them to have various capabilities, such as

         21  Internet access. Currently they need to have phone

         22  services and things like that sort. So, part of the

         23  getting them on the referral list will be are they

         24  technically competent and capable of handling this.

         25  And as you know, many of them have weaknesses in
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          2  this area.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right.

          4                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: So, it is a

          5  problem. I wouldn't characterize it as an unfunded

          6  mandate but I would characterize it more as a

          7  requirement to be in the referral program.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: So there

         10  probably will be a request or a need by those firms

         11  to upgrade their technology, whether the City should

         12  step up to that or not is probably an open

         13  discussion item.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The reason I say

         15  we would both like to be involved in this, I don't

         16  know if Bill DeBlasio is still here, because the

         17  General Welfare Committee might also want to be

         18  involved, the issue is certainly large organizations

         19  will have the capacity, but if you want referrals to

         20  smaller organizations that might actually in the

         21  neighborhoods be more able to respond, then I do

         22  believe there is a slight unfunded mandate and there

         23  should at least be some discussion with the City

         24  Council regarding where these referrals are going.

         25                 You've got issues of cultural
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          2  sensitivity and you've got issues of size, and you

          3  know, we all want the problem solved. So, I think

          4  General Welfare Committee, if it's mostly a human

          5  service, whatever the appropriate committee is,

          6  would also like to be part to make sure that we can

          7  help you. Perhaps if the technology needs to be

          8  upgraded, we can work together.

          9                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Ron would like

         12  to add something to that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         14                 DeBlasio, are you paying attention?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         16  Ron Bergmann, First Deputy Commissioner. I just want

         17  to add that there has been an extensive amount of

         18  participation in the development and planning for

         19  Enhanced 3-1-1 among non-profit groups working with

         20  the Mayor's Office and with DoITT, and so the issue

         21  of technology readiness and capability is one that

         22  they are addressing with us.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. I

         24  appreciate that, Ron. I think the issue is, again, I

         25  have found in my years here, people have different
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          2  ideas as to who is there, who they want to work with

          3  the neighborhood, really address the needs of the

          4  neighborhood, without getting into specifics.

          5                 So, I think we can help you so you

          6  don't go down the path when people are upset when

          7  this agency is the person who is legally responsible

          8  and this one isn't, et cetera. And I think we could

          9  help.

         10                 Okay, the second question I have is,

         11  when you talked regarding the survey, I think what

         12  you have been aiming for is to find a way so that

         13  the loop is closed for some of your legacy systems

         14  and then the person who made the complaint

         15  originally to 3-1-1 is notified. So, I'm just

         16  wondering from a budget perspective and from a

         17  customer satisfaction perspective, where are you in

         18  terms of trying to address those needs. Because

         19  obviously if you were able to address them, my guess

         20  is you would have a pretty good customer

         21  satisfaction survey.

         22                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: So, the

         23  purpose of the customer satisfaction survey, to

         24  understand where those types of problems that you

         25  just identified are most acute, and so that's why we
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          2  want to do the survey, so we can understand whether,

          3  you know, one agency's type services are having more

          4  of a problem in the way they're being pursued by the

          5  constituents than others.

          6                 Based on that information, we then

          7  can prioritize which of the services we're going to

          8  try to improve in which order, and it's the $60

          9  million number that we talked about earlier, where

         10  we haven't yet identified how exactly that would be

         11  used and what areas it would be used in.

         12                 But that's why the survey is critical

         13  to help us actually finalize that whole analysis of

         14  where we would want to make the capital

         15  improvements.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, the

         17  legacy systems are many and the idea would be to try

         18  to prioritize based on what the survey says is a

         19  problem, is what you're saying?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Exactly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The other

         22  question I have is, regarding channel, my favorite

         23  topic, I have many other questions, Channel 74, et

         24  cetera, I think that Chairman Weprin is being very

         25  kind when he says that people listen to it. They do,
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          2  but if we knew a little bit more about, as you know,

          3  who is speaking and what is happening on the

          4  television set, I think people would appreciate

          5  this.

          6                 So, my question is two fold: First of

          7  all, the web casting, is that something that is done

          8  currently? Because it must be it's streaming, that

          9  it's happening for all Council meetings, some

         10  Council meetings? I need to get more specifics.

         11                 And second, what's the revenue for

         12  Channel 74? And you also have broadcast channel. So,

         13  I just want to know, it does seem to me that there's

         14  quite a bit of, I don't know if it's called

         15  advertisements or placements, or people who have

         16  money who we're paying the City to show their wares,

         17  so I wanted to know from the broadcast channels and

         18  the cable, what kind of income exists?

         19                 And then can some of that, does it go

         20  to general revenue or could some of it be used to do

         21  streaming both here at City Hall? Obviously I'd love

         22  to have some of it on the City Council website, and

         23  I know you've been very helpful in that regard, et

         24  cetera? In other words, how can we even improve what

         25  we have with revenue, if it's coming in from
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          2  different placements, on broadcast and cable?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: I could answer

          4  the first part of that question with regard to how

          5  programs are aired, and simultaneously. As they're

          6  aired on the cable channel, they're simulcast at the

          7  same time on an NYC.gov website, and John can

          8  address the questions --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: How long has that

         10  been going on, Ron?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I

         12  don't know, but we'll let you know. We'll get back

         13  to you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. I should

         15  know, because I haven't noticed it. It must be hard

         16  to find. But maybe we could advertise that more.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         18  As far as the international programming is

         19  concerned, we have $1.9 million in the revenue

         20  budget that we actually collect.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And that's on

         22  cable and broadcast?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         24  So, it's international --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: International
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          2  programming.

          3                 And what does that mean, translated?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

          5  Essentially it's foreign language programming.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. But don't

          7  we also have ads on broadcast?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We're not

          9  allowed to have advertisements.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes, but you have

         11  something, because the Army comes in and the --

         12                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: It's

         13  sponsorship.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It's sponsorship.

         15  How much does sponsorship bring in, in terms of

         16  revenue?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         18  Right now that's a relatively modest number. I

         19  believe it's around 400,000.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Is that

         21  going to increase or stay the same? We don't want

         22  too much of it I'm aware.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         24  The goal is to increase that and increase our grant

         25  activities. That's the primary reason why we did
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          2  receive new resources in the Fiscal Year '08 budget.

          3  We have seven new positions coming in.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I saw that.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

          6  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And what are they

          8  going to do?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         10  Essentially they're going to solicit for

         11  underwriting and grants.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So underwriting

         13  means sponsorship?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         15  Sponsorship.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right. Is

         17  there some way we can also improve -- what brings

         18  two cameras to City Hall? What would that cost? Or

         19  what could we do to enhance the wonderful, the way

         20  in which Channel 74 is displayed? So it looks like,

         21  like we'd like to know who the three of you are when

         22  the camera is on you; how can we get to that point?

         23  And it's not me that I'm interested in. Go ahead.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We do the

         25  Chambers here. As I understand there is a project
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          2  coming up. We basically make sure that cable

          3  television needs are put into that plan.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes.

          5                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: And the

          6  ability to do robotics for the cameras, and have one

          7  person operating the cameras rather than one

          8  individual standing with each camera, as we have one

          9  camera today because we have one individual assigned

         10  to cover here, the issue is one of labor, cost

         11  obviously, so if we have robotics and have one

         12  person in control of the robotics, then we can

         13  accomplish the objective without increasing the

         14  labor costs.

         15                 So, I would suggest, and we'll work

         16  closely with you, whomever we designate, that when

         17  we do the new work in the Chambers we'll plan for

         18  that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. And that

         20  would be a budget item that could be addressed.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Absolutely.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. I'm

         23  interested also in the Verizon contract. Is that

         24  something that is being negotiated with franchises?

         25  Is there any budget implication? I think all of us
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          2  are concerned about the issue of making sure, as you

          3  are, that Verizon covers as much of the City as

          4  possible, so I just wanted to get an update and see

          5  what the status is.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: The

          7  discussions with Verizon for a cable franchise are

          8  ongoing. As you probably know, they were delayed for

          9  some time because the parties in this case,

         10  particularly Verizon, were waiting to see if they

         11  could get a favorable ruling out of the FCC and the

         12  ruling came out as to new rules in the

         13  February/March time frame, I believe. Those

         14  negotiations have stepped up and are being very

         15  aggressive now.

         16                 Mitch Ahlbaum, who I will let comment

         17  here if he would like, is leading those for us, and

         18  they are in a very active mode right now.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Is there any

         20  impact from the Albany discussions, too, would be my

         21  question?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: I'll let Mitch

         23  handle that.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Yes,

         25  Mitch Ahlbaum, Deputy Commissioner, General Counsel.
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          2                 Actually, as recently as two days ago

          3  we spoke to assembly staff which is sponsoring a

          4  statewide franchise bill, which, frankly, would be

          5  very detrimental to our negotiation efforts. We can

          6  talk to your staff about that. We can talk to the

          7  Council about it. We would welcome your support in

          8  trying to defeat this bill, which probably would

          9  have two big impacts; one, slow down the fios build

         10  out, the Verizon build out, and also have a negative

         11  impact on franchise revenues, Inet-, Citynet-related

         12  revenues, as well as revenues to pay broadcasters.

         13  So, it's really a bill that will very much --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So the bill could

         15  actually have impact in the current discussion,

         16  that's what I'm trying to find out; is that correct?

         17  Depending on what happens in Albany.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: If the

         19  bill were to pass before we were able to wrap up --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That was my

         21  question.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: -- Our

         23  fios agreement, it could potentially have an impact,

         24  absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, go ahead.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Point of

          3  information. Assemblyman Brodsky testified before

          4  the Land Use Committee on his legislation. We have a

          5  resolution up to the State asking them to oppose his

          6  legislation.

          7                 He testified, if you can clarify,

          8  that it wouldn't have an impact on these

          9  negotiations, and you said it might.

         10                 So, I'm curious to, as an attorney

         11  myself, I'm curious as to how if this is passed

         12  after the authorizing resolution, you guys still

         13  have the authority that we gave you no matter what

         14  they pass. So, can you clarify the information?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: I wasn't

         16  here for those statements but I can tell you

         17  definitively that it would not have an impact on the

         18  Verizon negotiations, I should say on the Verizon

         19  agreement, if passed, after we reached an agreement.

         20  It would absolutely have an impact on the

         21  negotiations and what we could potentially get out

         22  of those negotiations. Not to mention, it would also

         23  have an impact on the renewal negotiations with Time

         24  Warner and Cablevision, if passed.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Has an impact on
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          2  all of the three. I'd like the answer to the

          3  question, which is: what would the exact impact be,

          4  considering I, myself, would think that there wasn't

          5  one, simply because we did it first, and the

          6  authorizing resolution passed; and their

          7  legislation, I am making the presumption, is

          8  prospective. I don't know how it could be retro.

          9                 So, if you could answer the question,

         10  that would be great.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Yes. I'll take

         12  a crack at it, because we saw this occur when the

         13  FCC was debating this issue. And it's just the issue

         14  of timing. If the third party perceives that they're

         15  going to get a more favorable resolution, they'll

         16  drag their feet in the negotiations. You know,

         17  they'll actually try to stretch out the negotiation

         18  and won't sign, won't submit their final proposal

         19  until when they think they would get a more

         20  favorable timing. So, it's a timing issue. You're

         21  correct. I mean, obviously, if we sign the agreement

         22  with them prior to any new legislation, then their

         23  legislation is --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: For some reason I'm

         25  not making myself clear. I'd like to know, as an
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          2  attorney, and as the Chair of the Land Use

          3  Committee, who passed this authorizing resolution

          4  with the Council, what would be the distinction

          5  between before and after the state bill is passed,

          6  on the negotiations today, in response to the RFPs.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Okay,

          8  let me try to give you a concrete example of what

          9  this bill might do. It would cap the amount that the

         10  City could receive in franchise revenues at five

         11  percent. Historically this City has been able to

         12  receive five percent of gross franchise revenues, in

         13  addition to an Inet contribution, in addition to

         14  whatever contribution on to pay channels, this bill

         15  effectively would say that any Inet contribution and

         16  any peg allocation comes off of the five percent,

         17  off the top. So that's one immediate impact, real

         18  life impact that that would have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Maybe the easy

         20  answer is do you mind putting together something for

         21  us as to what the effect would be?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Not at

         23  all.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: I'd appreciate

         25  that.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: That

          3  would be great. Because that would make it clearer

          4  for us and also allow us to oppose the legislation

          5  in a much clearer and valid fashion. I would

          6  appreciate that. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: One question over

          8  here, back to Channel 74, is I believe that your

          9  schedule is on the NYC.gov; is that correct? For the

         10  Channel 74?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And it could be

         13  somehow, I don't know how, that's one of those

         14  things that could be advertised more readily perhaps

         15  in other venues, because people don't know that. I

         16  get that call all the time. Something to think

         17  about. It's not necessarily a revenue issue, but

         18  something that would be better for the public.

         19                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We'll get back

         20  to you with what actions we can take.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         22                 The issue of GIS, I'm very aware of

         23  your base map, and I'm just wondering, you have

         24  added seven positions, I just wanted to know how

         25  extensive the City's GIS capacity is now, and
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          2  exactly what are these new funds needed for?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: GIS systems or

          4  geographic-based systems are becoming more and more

          5  in demand. Many agencies throughout the City have

          6  GIS needs and GIS capabilities. So, as in many of

          7  the other services we're providing, there is

          8  becoming obvious need to centralize more of these

          9  services and eliminate the redundancies.

         10                 So, agencies today that are providing

         11  their own GI services are realizing that by using a

         12  central service map that we would provide, would

         13  eliminate their need.

         14                 So, the approach here is to have a

         15  much more centralized approach to GIS. We would

         16  bring information regarding streets, et cetera,

         17  naming new buildings, all that would be gathered at

         18  one central point, and all that information would be

         19  distributed via GIS tech capabilities to any agency

         20  that needs it.

         21                 Things like including the GIS,

         22  centralized GIS in the computer dispatch systems

         23  that the Police and Fire uses are a critical part of

         24  this program, so that they're all working off the

         25  same set of data.
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          2                 Today each of those agencies tends to

          3  maintain their own maps, and obviously there is a

          4  redundancy in that. And not only a redundancy but an

          5  opportunity for error, so we're going to have one

          6  centralized capability for all for providing GIS

          7  data throughout the entire City.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: When do you think

          9  that would be on-line, as opposed to each individual

         10  agency? Is this something that has happened in this

         11  fiscal year?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: It's being

         13  done, actually, in part of the ECTP program,

         14  actually, and it's needed for the deployments that

         15  are planned for the end of Fiscal Year 2009.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, in

         17  other words, the 700,000, whatever the additional

         18  money is, is almost part of the ECTP package, in a

         19  way?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: No. There is

         21  additional staff that are being added that is an

         22  expensed item. That's what that is.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         25  Excuse me. Can I just clarify? The seven positions
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          2  are not a net increase in headcount. What's really

          3  happening here is these are being converted from

          4  formerly IFA-funded positions, and now they're City

          5  tax levy. So, while they show up as a new need in

          6  the way it's presented in the budget, because it's a

          7  new City tax levy cost, in reality this is not new

          8  headcount. They're already on staff previously

          9  funded from the capital budget.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, thank you.

         11                 Council Member Simcha Felder.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 I'm sorry I missed the beginning of

         15  it, I was at another meeting. Does 3-1-1 system have

         16  a structure where people can call up and complain

         17  about something in general? For example, let's say

         18  somebody wants to call up and say they hate

         19  congestion pricing, or somebody wanted to call up

         20  and say they were very upset with the new Board of

         21  Ed bus reorganization, school bus reorganization, or

         22  somebody wants to call up and say they hate flyers

         23  on their stoops, or anything like that?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Yes. They are

         25  treated as general informative information that we
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          2  then forward to City Hall to the Mayor's Office.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So,

          4  hypothetically if Simcha Felder called 3-1-1 and

          5  wanted to complain about the buses, the person

          6  answering, you know, I know when you first get the

          7  message about alternate side of the street parking

          8  and then you sell us, you try to sell us something

          9  else, which is good, and then it goes to an

         10  operator. The operator says hi, my name is Shirley

         11  and how can I help you. That person would take down

         12  the complaint?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay. Let me

         15  tell you emphatically that that's absolutely not the

         16  case. I sent out 30,000 pieces of literature to

         17  people in my district asking them to call your

         18  agency because I love 3-1-1, and I really do. I

         19  think it will probably go down as one of the

         20  Administration's legacies, people would have to go

         21  through the White Pages or the Yellow Pages and also

         22  look through the Blue Pages there and figure out who

         23  to call. They call 3-1-1 any time of day or night,

         24  and I encourage people who can't sleep to call

         25  3-1-1, in fact, if they're lonely. But we got
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          2  dozens, I'm not talking about one, dozens of calls

          3  from people who said that they could not get anyone

          4  who would take their complaints about the water rate

          5  increases, without being shifted around from one

          6  person to the other person to the other person and

          7  then back and forth, and then finally, they were

          8  told, they were given an address to write. And if

          9  you want, I can bring them to your agency. And it

         10  wasn't one call. My colleagues and I know that if

         11  you get a dozen or more calls about something, that

         12  means there are hundreds of people who are upset.

         13                 Now, I didn't have to call your

         14  agency to get that corrected. I think it should be a

         15  simple thing. You have a wonderful program, somebody

         16  should be able to call up and they should be able to

         17  record it. Obviously, with something like a water

         18  rate increase, people in my district weren't the

         19  only ones complaining. So, I think the agency is not

         20  perfect, and you failed miserably with this case.

         21  And I'm not here to attack you about this case. I'm

         22  here to make sure that if tomorrow or the next day

         23  or the day thereafter there is something new, that

         24  it doesn't take a week or ten days to figure out how

         25  to straighten out. It's a simple thing. You're
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          2  agency should know that.

          3                 Can you embarrass me somewhat by

          4  making me look stupid with some answer? I'm serious.

          5  Can someone explain it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We certainly

          7  don't want to embarrass you.

          8                 Ron will answer the question.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         10  We appreciate the fact that you and your staff did

         11  call us to let us know about problems, and as soon

         12  as we heard about it we did address it. We have, I

         13  think if your constituents call now, they will --

         14  what happened is that they were bounced around. It's

         15  not something that we want to have happen. Our

         16  call-takers do know how to properly intake that kind

         17  of a complaint about this matter, and it's constant

         18  improvement and we constantly evaluate quality

         19  assurance and we do need input and feedback from you

         20  and your colleagues when we may not be doing it as

         21  correctly as we should. So, we value that, and the

         22  problem that you have raised with us --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I appreciate

         24  what you said, and compliments always feel good, but

         25  since I came late to the hearing, it's not fair to
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          2  belabor it. But I do want to say to you that this

          3  problem is systemic. This is not the first time, and

          4  I appreciate your addressing it. When we had the

          5  school bus issue, we had the same thing going on, it

          6  took days before your agents knew how to take down a

          7  problem and say thank you very much, we appreciate

          8  -- it's a very simple thing. They should be able to

          9  take down a complaint, put it into a category, so

         10  that the Mayor who is interested in knowing about

         11  these things gets a tally in the morning. I've seen

         12  him look at those sheets first thing in the morning

         13  so he can see how people feel about issues, and it's

         14  no the first time.

         15                 So, all I'm asking you, I'm begging

         16  you to please make sure that all these wonderful

         17  people that work for you know how this is done

         18  clearly. One agent may be the first one that gets

         19  that complaint. How does everybody else know that

         20  there's a new category, a new column? And I thank

         21  you in advance. I want a complaint number for this

         22  complaint after the hearing, please.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'll give you

         24  one.

         25                 Three quick questions.
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          2                 One is update on parks and

          3  technology. Second is update on what I call "the

          4  pole top," if there's any revenue implications? I

          5  didn't see it in your testimony. And the third is

          6  New York City WIN, which is the first responder

          7  issue. If you could just give us an update. I know

          8  there is a pilot ongoing. When will it be rolled out

          9  Citywide? And I think there are some new positions

         10  of the implications are budgetwide for the City.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: You've got a

         12  lot of questions there. So, let me --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You can answer

         14  them all.

         15                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: -- See if I

         16  remember them all.

         17                 In terms of the NYCWiN program

         18  itself, it is already operating in Lower Manhattan,

         19  and we are running pilot demos of a number of the

         20  applications down there. The plan is to have it

         21  rolled out Citywide by this time next year, and so

         22  it will be completed in Fiscal Year '08. The actual

         23  amount of money, I'm going to have to ask John to

         24  give you those numbers, and were there other

         25  questions?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Other than the

          4  money question, I'm sorry?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The question was

          6  are there agencies also with the NYCWiN, will they

          7  be rolled out at the same time? How do they

          8  participate? And of course, I won't bring up the

          9  fact that the public does not ever participate. But

         10  I just want to say that I am aware of that. So, the

         11  question is, the other agencies like DEP and others,

         12  are they part of this year next time? Do they come

         13  on later?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: No. What will

         15  be totally rolled out by this time next year is the

         16  basic infrastructure that any agency could use to

         17  access this.

         18                 Individual agencies then obviously

         19  have to implement the programs they would use on

         20  this. In particular, with the Department of

         21  Environmental Protection, and their interest in

         22  essentially using this as a way to do automated

         23  meter reading, that is a fairly significant add-on

         24  to the network. Obviously they have to implement new

         25  meters. So, I can't speak to their timing of how
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          2  they're going to run out to new meters, but I do

          3  know that, for example, they will have a test meter

          4  up and running in Lower Manhattan in the next month

          5  or so, and then it's just a question of how long it

          6  actually takes them to roll the meters out and how

          7  they would integrate that into their existing

          8  billing systems. So, I can't give you their time

          9  line, but I think their intention is to move as

         10  quickly as they can, given that our infrastructure

         11  will be in place.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And they have to

         13  put in budget also?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: They obviously

         15  have a fairly significant amount of money they have

         16  to spend to do that part of it. It's not an

         17  inexpensive item to purchase all those meters.

         18                 John will explain our budget.

         19                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: As far

         20  as the wireless area in our budget, we received 12

         21  new tax levy positions at $780,000, beginning in FY

         22  '08. Five of those positions are actually for the

         23  NYCWiN project. The rest of those positions are

         24  really to support 800 megahertz, Channel 16 and the

         25  overall just wireless division in general.
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          2                 As far as the revenues associated

          3  with the pole top, it's still at $820,000. There has

          4  not been any adjustment to the baseline amount.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And how many pole

          6  tops does that involve; do you know?

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Off

          8  the top of my head I don't have that data. We can

          9  provide you with some new numbers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. How many?

         11  And approximately where would be helpful.

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER WINKER: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And the Parks.

         14  Parks.

         15                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Parks. We

         16  continue to work actively with the Parks Department,

         17  in terms of the plans to move wireless throughout

         18  the parks. I believe there should be an announcement

         19  coming shortly about Central Park and the main

         20  program that's been going on now. I believe that

         21  service will be coming up very shortly. We're

         22  working closely with the Parks, and the intention is

         23  wherever it's economically feasible to try to

         24  provide services.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, there
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          2  is no funding allocated to trying to make parks

          3  wireless.

          4                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: We are not

          5  requesting any funding in that regard.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you very

          8  much for coming in. If you could follow-up for us

          9  with that breakdown on the capital budget we would

         10  appreciate it, prior to budget adoption.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COSGRAVE: Absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, thank you.

         13                 This segment of the Finance Committee

         14  Joint with Land Use and Information and Technology

         15  is adjourned.

         16                 We will reconvene in approximately

         17  five minutes with Commissioner Burney from the

         18  Department of Design and Construction.

         19                 (Recess taken.)

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: There aren't a

         21  lot of members, so you won't have too many tough

         22  questions.

         23                 Sergeant-At-Arms I think is getting

         24  the tapes ready. Sergeant-At-Arms, are you ready?

         25  Okay, now the Finance Committee is officially back
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          2  in session. And we're going to be hearing from

          3  Commissioner David Burney from the Department of

          4  Design and Construction.

          5                 Commissioner Burney.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman. Just I have a brief statement to enter for

          8  the record, and then I will be happy to take any

          9  questions.

         10                 I'm joined today by my Chief of Staff

         11  on my left, Anna Barrio, and Assistant Commissioner

         12  Matt Monahan, and we'll be happy to take questions

         13  once I've read the statement.

         14                 DDC currently maintains a portfolio

         15  of around 750 projects currently in design or

         16  construction, valued at close to $5 billion. With

         17  just over a month remaining in Fiscal Year 2007, I'm

         18  pleased to report that DDC expects to exceed its key

         19  Mayor's Management Report indicators with 165

         20  projects scheduled to complete construction, and 118

         21  scheduled to finish design by the end of the fiscal

         22  year.

         23                 The agency also expects to achieve

         24  its 725 million capital commitment and target, and

         25  for Fiscal 2008, our current plan is 1.2 billion.
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          2                 The current Fiscal Year 2007

          3  operating budget is 93.9 million. Of that, 80.8

          4  million is for personnel services with a budgeted

          5  headcount of 1,317 and 13.1 million is for other

          6  than personal services.

          7                 The projected Fiscal 2008 operating

          8  budget increases slightly to 9.9 million. Of that

          9  81.7 is for personal services, with a headcount a

         10  little less of 1,315 and 14.2 million is for other

         11  than personal services.

         12                 I'm happy to say that DDC has

         13  continued to progress many of the capital projects

         14  allocated for non-City-owned property. We currently

         15  have 40 projects valued at 7 million that are either

         16  registered or will be registered shortly within the

         17  next three months. Ten of these valued at two and a

         18  half million have already been registered with the

         19  Comptroller, the remaining 30 projects are awaiting

         20  budget approval.

         21                 We're continuing to maintain the web

         22  page on the agency's Internet site, and we continue

         23  to offer to meet with Council staff and the

         24  recipient organizations to answer their questions

         25  and provide assistance during the process.
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          2                 Ensuring that the recipient

          3  organizations have complete information remains a

          4  top priority.

          5                 I'm also happy to report that as

          6  authorized by the coordinated construction act for

          7  Lower Manhattan, known as the joint bidding

          8  agreement, we're now beginning work on five

          9  projects, which include private utility work that

         10  will be bid as part of the City work, will begin in

         11  Fiscal 2008.

         12                 The first of these jobs is Beekman

         13  Street. It's already being bid. It's currently

         14  awaiting New York State Department of Transportation

         15  approval for award, and we will commence work as

         16  soon as we receive that approval.

         17                 The remaining jobs on Liberty, Fulton

         18  and Harrison Streets and on Peck Slip will follow

         19  thereafter.

         20  In order to mitigate the impact of all this

         21  construction activity downtown, DDC continues to

         22  meet with the New York City DOT, the Downtown

         23  Alliance, Community Board 1, and most importantly,

         24  the Lower Manhattan Construction Coordinator to

         25  discuss the phasing of the work.
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          2                 Mr. Chairman, that concludes my

          3  prepared remarks and I'll be happy to answer any

          4  questions you might have.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner. I'm happy to hear you testify about

          7  the projects, the not-for-profits on non-City-owned

          8  land proceeding. As you know, we're about to

          9  finalize an agreement with the Office of Management

         10  and Budget, a memorandum of understanding of a

         11  moratorium of certain projects for a year on the

         12  condition that the other projects that are already

         13  in the pipeline have already been funded in previous

         14  years will move expeditiously.

         15                 I assume you're aware of that

         16  potential moratorium?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Yes, I am, Mr.

         18  Chairman. And I think that will certainly help

         19  expedite the speed at which these projects go

         20  through the pipeline, and it will give us an

         21  opportunity to accelerate the remaining balance that

         22  we still have in our portfolio right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Well, we

         24  appreciate that, and obviously it's a priority for

         25  the City Council, especially in the case of projects
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          2  that have been funded in some cases three, four

          3  years, and have not moved for various reasons.

          4                 In the April plan, DDC is managing

          5  approximately 1.3 billion of capital projects for

          6  City agencies for Fiscal '07.

          7                 To date, how much of the 1.3 billion

          8  in capital funding managed by DDC has been committed

          9  for the current fiscal year?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: You mean as of

         11  today. I'm not sure that I can give you that number.

         12  We anticipate exceeding the target of 725 million by

         13  June 30th, that's our current MMR commitment, and we

         14  expect to exceed that. I'd have to give you a more

         15  accurate number in terms of where we are in the

         16  process right now. Because obviously every day we

         17  award additional contracts, it's something of a

         18  moving target.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. What is

         20  DDC's average for total commitments registered and

         21  the agency's average percent of planned commitments

         22  met, say over the last four fiscal years?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Yes, I'd have to

         24  get back to you on that data. I would say -- no, I

         25  couldn't say off the top of my head. But obviously,
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          2  generally speaking our commitment plan runs about

          3  1.2 billion between a billion and 1.2 billion, our

          4  plan. Our actuals hover around the 800 million mark.

          5  Obviously for various reasons, projects are either

          6  cancelled or postponed, so our plan always exceeds

          7  actuals. So, the ratio is generally around over a

          8  billion in the plan and 800 million in actual. But I

          9  can give you a more accurate number.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, if you could

         11  provide me and the Committee that prior to budget

         12  adoption.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Surely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         15  by Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan.

         16                 With the announcement of many mega

         17  projects in the City, World Trade Center, the 7

         18  Train, Hudson Yards, to name a few, the City's

         19  construction industry is flush with work for years

         20  to come. These factors could possibly lead to an

         21  inability of City capital contracts to get awarded

         22  at reasonable rates, or even at all.

         23                 What has DDC's experience been

         24  recently in regard to the availability of quality

         25  contractors with reasonable bids, and do you feel
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          2  that there is some level of contractor capacity that

          3  could be reached.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Good question,

          5  yes. Well, the short answer is yes. DDC has been

          6  experiencing increasing difficulty in getting

          7  qualified bidders, and we are the victim of a

          8  tremendous amount of activity, both in the public

          9  and the private sector. It's been having an impact

         10  on construction prices for the past several years,

         11  in fact, and I think the people that track these

         12  things say that construction has been increasing

         13  anywhere between one and one and a half percent per

         14  month, over the past two or three years.

         15                 I think we're seeing something of a

         16  leveling off of those numbers now. I think partly

         17  because commodities prices are coming down. There

         18  was a huge surge in steel prices that's abated over

         19  the past several months, other metals have come down

         20  in price, and on the other hand, I understand

         21  sheetrock prices continue to increase. So, something

         22  of a volatile materials market.

         23                 We have sort of one piece of good

         24  news, which is that for the bulk of our portfolio,

         25  which tends to be smaller projects under 10 million,
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          2  there is a pool of contractors that tend to

          3  specialize in that type of work. So, if we're

          4  bidding a $5 million library, we're not competing,

          5  we're not looking for the same pool of bidders as

          6  would be bidding on the Second Avenue Subway, or a

          7  World Trade Center Tower, it's a different sector of

          8  the market. So, to that extent, we have something of

          9  an advantage.

         10                 Bonding capacity continues to be an

         11  issue. Companies, even if they feel they have the

         12  ability, they're limited by what the bonding

         13  companies will allow them to do, so that's a factor.

         14  So, we expect to see this problem, I would say, into

         15  the foreseeable future, until the overall market

         16  starts to slow down.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         18                 We've been joined by our Assistant

         19  Majority Leader, Council Member Lew Fidler, from

         20  Brooklyn.

         21                 Commissioner, what is the status of

         22  the library and the cultural affair projects that

         23  are currently being managed by DDC? And would you

         24  say that most of these projects are proceeding on

         25  schedule?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Libraries and

          3  cultural affairs?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Right.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: We have actually

          6  a large library program right now. In large part,

          7  actually, thanks to the City Council. Many of them

          8  are funded by Council members. We have about 45 --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Blame us for a

         10  lot of the projects.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Really. We have

         12  over 45 active library projects. We just handed over

         13  the Schomberg Library (phonetic) in Upper Manhattan,

         14  Jerome Park. The SoHo branch, not far from here, was

         15  just handed over. We're bidding a couple this week,

         16  and we've got about 15 or 16 currently in

         17  construction, and about 20, 25 in various stages of

         18  design.

         19                 So, it's a very active program. I

         20  would like to say that our three clients, the New

         21  York Public Library, the Queens Public Library and

         22  Brooklyn Public Library are reasonably happy with

         23  our service. We work well with them. We have a

         24  specialized unit, as you know, within DDC that's

         25  dedicated purely to the library and cultural
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          2  clients. So, we have a very close relationship with

          3  them, and we work very closely to make sure we're

          4  meeting their needs.

          5                 So, I trust that we're performing

          6  well, and I believe we continue to do so.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I believe Council

          8  Member Brewer had a question.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much. I represent the West Side of Manhattan, and

         11  St. Agnes, and they all know here that I'm going to

         12  ask about St. Agnes, because we spent three years

         13  putting the money together, and I think you're a

         14  very good commissioner and a very good agency, but I

         15  do think it slows down the process. And to have DDC.

         16  Is there any possibility that the library could

         17  manage some of these projects on their own? I know

         18  DDC is necessary when it's a small culture, for

         19  instance, but if the library, New York Public, et

         20  cetera, we want to get this project done quickly,

         21  you want to get it done quickly, I can't come up

         22  with any more money, so the question is, do you know

         23  the status of St. Agnes, and is there some way that

         24  the library could be more involved? How do you make

         25  it go really, really fast?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Well, if I

          3  remember correctly, St. Agnes and Woodstock are

          4  being bid this week. We're receiving bids this week

          5  on those projects.  I can give you exact dates later

          6  on, if you like.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I would.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: But in general,

          9  the New York Public Library does manage a

         10  considerable amount of its own work, we give them

         11  pass-through contracts. The way we approach it is,

         12  if a client organization has a demonstrated capacity

         13  to do its own capital work, we will give them

         14  pass-through contracts. Our role is to help those

         15  institutions, whether they be libraries or museums

         16  or whatever, whose main mission is running a museum

         17  or whatever it is they do, and they don't really

         18  have capital expertise, so we come in and we provide

         19  that expertise.

         20                 In some cases, some of the larger

         21  cultural institutions, like the Metropolitan Museum,

         22  the Museum of Modern Art.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: American Museum

         24  of Natural History.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: They have a
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          2  sizable capital staff and we're perfectly happy

          3  letting them carry on.

          4                 With the library organizations,

          5  partly because of their own operating expense issues

          6  and so on, they have small staff. They take on what

          7  they feel they can take on and we divide up the pie

          8  and we manage the other projects.

          9                 I don't believe, if you looked at it,

         10  that you would see any difference in terms of how

         11  the projects proceed. A major issue we've had with

         12  the library program is that Council members will, in

         13  all good faith, allocate money to a particular

         14  branch library, whether it is a million or two

         15  million. The library will initiate that project,

         16  only to discover --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: There's not

         18  enough money.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: -- There's code

         20  regulations and asbestos and lead and ADA and so on,

         21  it's a more complicated and more expensive project.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm familiar with

         23  that process.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: So then the

         25  project slows down. We go back, we look for more
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          2  money and it just takes much more money than it

          3  really should.

          4                 One initiative we've undertaken this

          5  year, we're doing now needs assessment surveys of

          6  all 213 branch libraries so that we will know in the

          7  capital planning stage exactly what the cost is of

          8  those issues; whether there is lead, whether there

          9  is asbestos and what we'll need, so that when we do

         10  our planning we won't have to spend a lot of time

         11  reworking the budget. And I think that will really

         12  accelerate the rate at which we can accomplish these

         13  projects.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, to be

         15  very parochial, with St. Agnes, you're going to let

         16  me know the bid date and then we're going to sit

         17  down and see if we can make it a model for going

         18  extremely fast?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         21                 And as far as I know, the design is

         22  done, it's ready to go. The library I think thinks

         23  very well of you, but I think quietly they might say

         24  that they could do some of these projects

         25  themselves. And this would be an example that they
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          2  could.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Well, this

          4  project is already bid. It's out to bid. So we will

          5  receive bids.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. What's the

          7  timing after you receive the bids? Providing

          8  somebody bids on it, that's always an issue?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Well, I'm

         10  comfortable it will get bid. If bids are within the

         11  budget, then it's a very smooth process. We will go

         12  to OMB, we will get the final CP, that takes about

         13  30 days. We register it with the Comptroller, that

         14  takes another 30 days. These are maximum.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I can make them

         16  go faster.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: They tend to use

         18  their maximum, I should tell you, but 30 days and 30

         19  days.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: No, no, no, no,

         21  no, no, no. Not with me around.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: We'll draw on

         23  your assistance for that.

         24                 And then we give the contractor a

         25  couple of weeks to mobilize and we'll start work.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: So that would be

          4  the schedule.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I will work on

          6  that. Okay, thank you very much.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: You're very

          8  welcome.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         10  Fidler.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman. I apologize, Commissioner, for coming up

         13  after you had given your testimony, but Chairman

         14  Weprin snuck out of the other meeting, I didn't know

         15  he came up here and started. But I did have an

         16  opportunity to quickly read through it, and I notice

         17  you commented that you continue to maintain a web

         18  page on the agency's Internet site. And I am not

         19  familiar with it. Does that web page update the

         20  status of all these 750 projects you're working on?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: No, it doesn't

         22  specifically do that. The web page I am referring to

         23  here is one that's targeted principally at the

         24  recipients of Council funds on City-owned property.

         25  And the reason we've done that is that it's a very
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          2  arcane and complex process with restrictive

          3  covenants and other processes, and we've found that

          4  the major obstacle to moving that money quickly, is

          5  that the recipient organizations are just not aware

          6  of all the paperwork and requirements that they have

          7  to meet.

          8                 So, my General Counsel, David Rowley,

          9  undertook sort of an educational program for

         10  recipient organizations so that they would be ready

         11  when the funds came through to respond with the

         12  necessary documentation.

         13                 So, that web page is designed to be

         14  an information source for them, and that's

         15  principally what that's about.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, the web

         17  page is not a status or more a how to for

         18  not-for-profits.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: For that

         20  specific issue.

         21                 Now, there is another feature on our

         22  webpage called "Project Browser." And if you click

         23  on the icon that says Project Browser, you can

         24  search an entire active portfolio by Council

         25  District, by Borough, by project number, by address
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          2  I believe, so you can get access to our entire

          3  portfolio through the Project Browser.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And does

          5  Project Razzle (sic) --

          6                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Project Browser.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: -- Then tell

          8  you what the status of the project is, give target

          9  dates for stages?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: It does. But I

         11  would have to say that I think it's rather crude.

         12  You know, the information is not updated on a daily

         13  basis, so if you were to look at, for example, an

         14  infrastructure project in a particular neighborhood,

         15  it will give you a contract value by range, it will

         16  give you a projected start and a projected

         17  completion date. It's not really updated on a timely

         18  basis, so the information is somewhat high level.

         19                 If you're looking for more detailed

         20  information, you would probably have to pick up the

         21  actual contract number and then contact one of my

         22  staff, contact me, and we can get you more details.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Is there not a

         24  way to provide some of the more rudimentary

         25  information, you know, contracts out to bid, bids
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          2  are in, contract has been registered, ground

          3  breaking projected for, the kind of things that

          4  Council members want to know, the questions we get

          5  from communities; is there not a way to do that

          6  without really placing a large burden on DDC?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Well, actually I

          8  think most of the things you just mentioned are

          9  probably there. I don't know about ground breakings.

         10  We say project start, project completion, two dates.

         11  We say overall construction cost but we don't give

         12  the precise number. I don't think --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, the

         14  other real flags, contracts out to bid. That's a

         15  biggy because everybody knows that nothing is going

         16  to happen until the contract is out for bid. You

         17  know, in design, design approved, contract out for

         18  bid, it's in, contract registered. I mean, the major

         19  you know flagstones on the road to completion, can't

         20  we do that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: We can. I think

         22  we would call that in procurement. If it says in

         23  procurement, that means it's in some stage of the

         24  bidding process. We can always add additional

         25  milestones. Obviously we're trying to make, you
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          2  know, we're trying to sort of make a balance between

          3  overloading the thing with so much information that

          4  it's very hard to navigate and having too little.

          5  But we can always add fields, if you feel that we're

          6  missing, other than information that would be

          7  useful, we would be happy to look at adding it,

          8  sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I think some

         10  of the information I just mentioned would be useful.

         11  The projects that are in, listed in Project Razzle

         12  (sic) would be all 750 capital projects assigned to

         13  DDC?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: That's correct.

         15  It's Project Browser.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Browzell?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: No, Browser. As

         18  in browsing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh, Browsing.

         20  I'm sorry, I'm from Brooklyn and I speak with an

         21  accent. I apologize.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: I'm from

         23  Brooklyn and I speak with an accent.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Commissioner

         25  Burney has a Brooklyn accent. There you go.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Just to shift

          3  gears back to the not-for-profit issue, I'm sure

          4  you're aware that the Council and the Mayor are

          5  engaged in or have entered into, I'm not exactly

          6  sure of the status, a Memorandum of Understanding

          7  regarding capital projects for not-for-profit

          8  institutions. And a feature of that MOU is going to

          9  be a one-year moratorium on most new funding for

         10  not-for-profits, in an effort to get the old money

         11  out the door.

         12                 Are you aware of it? Do you think

         13  that a one-year moratorium will allow DDC to reach

         14  back on all of the -- because there are certainly

         15  far more than 40 not-for-profit projects, I don't

         16  know how many of the 700 and some odd projects are

         17  not-for-profit, what kind of dent can you make into

         18  that backlog with a one-year moratorium?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Incidentally,

         20  Council Member, I asked him that question, but I'd

         21  like to hear it again, because I like to have it on

         22  the record, his answer, and maybe he'll even

         23  elaborate on it.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I apologize
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          2  again.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Yes. You know, I

          4  wish Bruce -- I should have brought Bruce today

          5  because Bruce could give you a more detailed answer

          6  than I can.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Bruce Rudolf?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Bruce Rudolf,

          9  yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: He does a great

         11  job.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: I didn't know

         13  this was coming up, but maybe I should say I'll get

         14  back to you. But let me say, as I'm sure you're

         15  aware, the two major issues with processing that

         16  many is, one, capital eligibility. It often takes

         17  time to determine -- I'm talking about construction

         18  money. These are coming through DDC because we

         19  happen to be a convenient vehicle, but it's often

         20  for vehicles, for computers and what have you. So,

         21  capital eligibility, which is a legal question under

         22  the Bond Finance Law has to be done. And some of the

         23  projects fall off the map on that if they're

         24  determined not to be capital eligible.

         25                 The second is the restrictive
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          2  covenant issue. If there are not construction

          3  dollars on City-owned property, then the

          4  not-for-profit has to enter into a restrictive

          5  covenant. If they have a mortgage, then the

          6  mortgagee has to agree to take second place to the

          7  City. That's often a long process. So, the answer to

          8  your question depends not so much on the City side,

          9  as it does on the recipient side.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All of those

         11  issues preexist this proposed MOU, and I'm sure that

         12  the Council members are, we're well aware of the

         13  restrictive covenant and the difficulties. And every

         14  one of us who has designated funds for a

         15  not-for-profit is keenly aware of that. Nonetheless,

         16  that still doesn't really answer the question. I

         17  mean, what you've done, Commissioner, is elaborate

         18  on some of the variables.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But the

         21  variables haven't changed.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And at one

         24  point in this discussion, there was some comment on,

         25  well, we don't have enough staff to get that money

                                                            87

          1  FINANCE, TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND LAND USE

          2  out the door, given the complexities of getting that

          3  money out the door. And, so, hence the discussion

          4  about a one-year moratorium to allow you to catch

          5  up. I don't think Council members want to have a

          6  one-year moratorium that's not going to make a

          7  difference, and a significant difference. And I

          8  think the question I'm asking is, what's your

          9  ability staffwise at DDC to cope with the backlog?

         10  How extensive is the backlog? And will a one-year

         11  moratorium make a difference knowing what the

         12  variables are?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: No, I

         14  understand. And unfortunately, I just learned about

         15  the moratorium today. So, I really don't have a full

         16  answer to that question.

         17                 I can only suggest that when I go

         18  back, I'll sit down with Bruce Rudolf in my agency

         19  who is looking after that program, and we'll do an

         20  analysis. I mean, it will certainly accelerate the

         21  process, because we'll be able to devote all of our

         22  resources to that back log of 700 or whatever it is.

         23                 Can I guarantee that we will have

         24  them all cleared after 12 months? I really can't

         25  answer that today. I really have to do some more
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          2  research.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I wouldn't

          4  expect you to have any kind of guarantee, especially

          5  something that's not entirely within your control.

          6  But inasmuch as the MOU is a pressing matter that

          7  really is very, very important to Council members

          8  before we pass this budget. I would ask you to go

          9  back and make that analysis and make it very

         10  quickly, if you could, and get it to the Committee

         11  Chair, so that we have all the information that we

         12  need in the process of entering this MOU and setting

         13  out Council capital priorities to this next fiscal

         14  year. I would appreciate your prompt attention to

         15  that, and I think it would be very helpful for all

         16  of us.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: I would be happy

         18  to do that, Councilman.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you,

         20  Commissioner.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         22  by Council Member Helen Sears from Queens.

         23                 Council Member Brewer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Very quickly. I

         25  thought it was good that you're doing the needs
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          2  assessment for the libraries for all the reasons. I

          3  think most of the branch libraries, when they're

          4  renovated, are paid for by Reso A money, and, so, I

          5  don't know if it's true for all of them, but

          6  certainly for most of them.

          7                 So, my question is, will you be

          8  planning with OMB for funding for some of the

          9  libraries that need to be improved and renovated? Or

         10  will it just be from Reso A money?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Well, I think

         12  our three library clients try to fund their capital

         13  library program from various sources. They obviously

         14  have Reso A money, City Council, Executive, they do

         15  private fund raising in some cases, and I think that

         16  process will continue. I think the difference will

         17  be, once we finish the needs assessment, that there

         18  will not be hidden costs that only emerge once

         19  they've initiated a capital project. They'll know

         20  ahead of time just how much money they need.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Maybe that will

         22  help. I believe there is not too much executive

         23  money in the branches. There's a great deal of maybe

         24  at the research and so on, but there isn't a lot for

         25  the branches. I think you'd agree with that.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Historically

          3  that's been the case.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Because maybe it

          5  will change after your assessments.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: We can hope.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No more

          9  questions. Don't feel obligated. We have testimony

         10  from the public coming.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I just wanted

         12  to reiterate, Councilman Fidler's request, in how

         13  important that is for us to have that. And perhaps

         14  what your backlog is now, and what is the

         15  anticipated time in which you hope to accomplish

         16  those projects. Thank you. Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         18  Commissioner. In light of this memorandum of

         19  understanding. I assume you'd be happy to work

         20  closely with any Council members on expediting prior

         21  projects that were already in the pipeline to try to

         22  see if we can get them done between this fiscal

         23  adoption and next fiscal adoption.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: Indeed we will,

         25  Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. As always,

          3  it's a pleasure to work closely with you and your

          4  office. And, you know, I consider you one of my

          5  favorite commissioners.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BURNEY: That's what you

          7  say to all of them, Mr. Chairman. I know.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Not all of them.

          9  Especially the one that was here yesterday, we won't

         10  get into that.

         11                 But having said that, we're going to

         12  adjourn the Department of Design and Construction

         13  portion of the Finance hearing and we will take

         14  testimony from the public. If anybody from the

         15  public would like to testify, please see the

         16  Sergeant-At-Arms. I have testimony that's going to

         17  be submitted by David Rivell, Executive Director of

         18  City Parks Foundation, and that will be submitted in

         19  full in the record.

         20                 And we have Sheelah Feinberg from New

         21  Yorkers For Parks, and Marianna Rovel, from Brooklyn

         22  Bridge Park, if you could both come up.

         23                 Is there anybody else here from the

         24  public that would like to testify? Going once? Going

         25  twice? Okay, come on up.
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          2                 Since there are only two of you, you

          3  can talk as long as you want. We do have a budget

          4  negotiating meeting at 2:00, though. And we're going

          5  to discuss priorities for parks. But go ahead.

          6                 MS. FEINBERG: Wow, nothing like a

          7  little pressure. Thanks.

          8                 Thank you for having us speak here.

          9  My name is Sheelah Feinberg, I'm joined by Cheryl

         10  Huber, and we're with New Yorkers For Parks. We're

         11  the only independent watchdog for all the City's

         12  parks, beaches and playgrounds. We are committed to

         13  ensuring that every neighborhood in every borough

         14  receives green, clean and safe parks. The

         15  introduction of PlaNYC 2030 has placed parks at the

         16  top of the City's list of priorities for the future.

         17  Preservation of natural areas, tree care and

         18  plantings and the availability of well-maintained

         19  open space are all heralded components of this

         20  ambitious plan.

         21                 In order to achieve the set goals,

         22  the City must devote sufficient financial management

         23  and management resources to its agencies.

         24                 Last week we released our Report Card

         25  on Parks and found that 75 percent of neighborhood
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          2  parks surveyed are still receiving a C, D or F.

          3  Prominent issues leading to these scores, include

          4  poor tree health, locked ball fields, debris-filled

          5  natural areas and damaged playground equipment.

          6  These challenges must be addressed in order to

          7  fulfill the Mayor's Plan.

          8                 We commend the Mayor's goal of having

          9  a park within a ten-minute walk for every New

         10  Yorker. However, we must ensure that those parks are

         11  well-maintained, clean and safe. During this time of

         12  economic prosperity our parks deserve a full

         13  restoration of programs and necessary additional

         14  funds for important and new initiatives.

         15                 So, here is our budget ask.

         16  Restoration. We would like to have the After School

         17  Program restored at $5.3 million. Obviously, we were

         18  very appreciative of the baselined money the Parks

         19  Department did receive earlier this year.

         20                 Some of the new funding initiatives

         21  that we request is $10 million for Playground

         22  Associates. This would result in 250 to 350 new

         23  Playground Associates to be placed in parks that

         24  currently have no dedicated staff.

         25                 We heard earlier from the
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          2  Commissioner about planting a million new trees.

          3  Well, we want to make sure that those trees are

          4  well-maintained. We ask for $5 million to support

          5  that initiative.

          6                 Three-million for horticulture. This

          7  would bring 60 full-time gardeners to parks across

          8  the City.

          9                 And, finally, we ask for more safety

         10  in our parks. Fifteen million for park safety for

         11  Parks Enforcement Patrol Officers. Fifteen million

         12  in capital funds is needed to fund response centers

         13  in all five boroughs, as well as several new

         14  vehicles.

         15                 That's my very brief testimony.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         17  Feinberg. And it's a pleasure to see you again.

         18                 MS. FEINBERG: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And I know you'll

         20  be around until budget adoption and handing out

         21  flyers and all these other --

         22                 MS. FEINBERG: Yes, you'll see me on

         23  the steps.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And all these

         25  important functions.
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          2                 Thank you for coming.

          3                 MS. FEINBERG: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is there anybody

          5  else from the public that would like to testify?

          6  Okay, it's now 2:03 p.m., and Council Member Robert

          7  Jackson is saying hello, and we are now adjourned

          8  for the day and we will reconvene tomorrow morning

          9  at 10:00.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 2:03 p.m.)
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